
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Children and Education 
Policy and Accountability Committee 

 

Agenda 
 

Tuesday 28 January 2020 at 7.00 pm 
Meeting Room 1 (2nd Floor) - 3 Shortlands, Hammersmith, W6 8DA 

 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration Opposition 

Councillor Sharon Holder (Chair) 
Councillor Lucy Richardson 
Councillor Alexandra Sanderson 
Councillor Asif Siddique 
 

Councillor Mark Loveday 
 

Co-optees 

Eleanor Allen, London Diocesan Board for Schools 
Nandini Ganesh, Parentsactive Representative 
Nadia Taylor, Parent Governor Representative 
Matt Jenkins, Teacher Representative 
 

 
 

 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: David Abbott 

Scrutiny Manager 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 Tel 07776 672877 
 E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Note: This meeting is open to members of the public. A loop system for hearing 
impairment is provided, along with disabled access to the building. 
 

Date Issued: 20 January 2020 
 



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Children and Education 
Policy and Accountability Committee 

Agenda 
 

28 January 2020 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES  4 - 9 

 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting held on 19 June 2019. 
 

 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, whether 
or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any other 
significant interest which they consider should be declared in the public 
interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a sensitive interest 
as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature of the interest at the 
commencement of the consideration of that item or as soon as it becomes 
apparent. 

 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest or other significant 
interest may also make representations, give evidence or answer questions 
about the matter.  The Councillor must then withdraw immediately from the 
meeting before the matter is discussed and any vote taken.  

 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and speak, 
then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should withdraw from 
the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. Councillors who have 
declared other significant interests should also withdraw from the meeting if 
they consider their continued participation in the matter would not be 
reasonable in the circumstances and may give rise to a perception of a conflict 
of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a dispensation 
to that effect has been obtained from the Standards Committee.   

 

 

4.   YOUTH TAKE OVER CHALLENGE 2019 ‘WITH ME 4 ME’ REPORT  10 - 25 

 This report presents feedback from 2019’s Youth Takeover Day. 
 

 

5.   INTEGRATED 2.5-YEAR-OLD HEALTH AND DEVELOPMENT 
CHECKS  

26 - 29 

 This report provides an update on progress to better integrate health 
and development checks for children aged 2.5 to 3 years. This issue 
was originally highlighted in the 2018 Local Area Inspection of SEND 
services in the borough. 
 
 
 

 



 

6.   2020 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY  30 - 52 

 This report sets out the budget proposals for the services covered by 
the Children and Education Policy and Accountability Committee. 
 

 

7.   DATE OF NEXT MEETING   

 The Committee is asked to note the date of the next meeting, which is 
to be held on 30 March 2020. 

 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Children and Education 
Policy and Accountability 

Committee 
 

Minutes 
 

Wednesday 19 June 2019 

 

 
PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Sharon Holder (Chair), Lucy Richardson, 
Alexandra Sanderson, Asif Siddique and Mark Loveday 
 
Co-opted members: Nandini Ganesh (Parentsactive Representative) and Matt 
Jenkins (Teacher Representative) 
 
Other Councillors: Councillor Larry Culhane (Cabinet Member for Children and 
Education) 
 
Officers: 
Mandy Lawson (Assistant Director for SEND), Jan Parnell (Assistant Director for 
Education), Kevin Gordon (Assistant Director of Assets, Programmes & Operations), 
Steve Miley (Director of Children's Services), Bev Sharpe (Assistant Director for 
Social Care), Tony Burton (Head of Finance for Children's Services) 
 
 

1. APPOINTMENT OF CO-OPTED MEMBERS FOR 2019-20  
 
The Chair informed the Committee that Vic Daniels was standing down as a co-
opted member due to other commitments. 
 
RESOLVED 
The Committee approved the appointment of the following Co-opted Members for 
the 2019-20 Municipal Year: 

 Eleanor Allen, London Diocesan Board for Schools 

 Nandini Ganesh, Parentsactive Representative 

 Nadia Taylor, Parent Governor Representative 

 Matt Jenkins, Teacher Representative 
 
 

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
Matters Arising 
Jan Parnell noted that the letter to schools congratulating them on their 
achievements would be going out by the end of term. 

Page 4

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
The Chair asked for careers guidance to be a future agenda item. 
 

ACTION: David Abbott 
RESOLVED 
The minutes of the meeting held on 25 March 2019 were agreed as an accurate 
record. 
 
 

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Nadia Taylor and Eleanor Allen. 
 
Apologies for lateness were received from Councillor Asif Siddique (he entered the 
meeting at 7.11pm during Item 5). 
 
 

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

5. CHILDREN'S SERVICES PRIORITIES FOR 2019-20  
 
Steve Miley, Director of Children's Services, presented the report which gave the 
Committee an overview of the key priorities and challenges for 2019-20 – as well as 
some of the department's major achievements over the past year. 
 
Steve Miley said he was very confident in the department's core services - social 
care had been rated good with outstanding features by Ofsted, the borough had 
excellent schools, and the recent SEND Ofsted review had been really positive. He 
stressed that this did not mean officers were being complacent - each service 
needed constant attention to maintain those standards. He then spoke about the 
areas that had been identified where changes needed to take place. 
 
Services for adolescents 
Officers explained that it was harder to get the outcomes the Council wanted with 
adolescents - both in education and social care. It was harder to achieve progress 
with older children because patterns of behaviour became entrenched and the roots 
of those issues often stretched very far back in their lives. The challenge was - could 
the Council design services that identified those children earlier so they could be 
better supported in school and with their family. It would require more intensive 
services than currently offered. 
 
Emerging needs in mainstream education 
Jan Parnell said there was a small but significant number of children who were 
disengaged from mainstream education. Officers were working closely with schools 
to improve inclusion in schools. They had commissioned a headteacher to put 
together a report on alternative provision to look at how to be more inclusive. There 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

would also be an inclusion event for headteachers with expert speakers at Chelsea 
Football Club on 12 July. 
 
Councillor Lucy Richardson said she applauded the emphasis on positive behaviour 
management - it was a key issue for parents. She asked if the Council could make 
this strategy transparent to everyone in the borough - particularly the third sector. 
Jan Parnell said she hoped to get a commitment that was broader than just schools 
at the conference. There was currently a pilot in 6 primary schools around mediating 
children's use of the internet, making it more positive. They were also running 
parenting classes in Children's Centres. 
 
Steve Miley said there was an ambition for all services - and the wider community - 
to be trauma aware. To properly address challenging or troubling behaviour meant 
understanding the trauma behind it. Jan Parnell was developing a trauma-aware 
proposal with Early Help to broaden this work out. 
  
Councillor Lucy Richardson asked if the Council had engaged with the 'Challenging 
Behaviour Foundation' - a charity for people with learning disabilities who have 
behaviour challenges. Mandy Lawson said the SEND team were working with the 
CCG on an intensive behaviour support offer that was based in the home and 
community (rather than clinic-based). 
  
Matt Jenkins asked if there was more that could be done during school holidays. Jan 
Parnell noted that 16 primary schools were doing activities this summer but she 
wanted more. The Youth Offer will also help address this. Councillor Larry Culhane 
said the Council had recently seed-funded a project, working with the Young 
Hammersmith and Fulham Foundation, that was similar to the local offer but for 
young people. It would be an easy to use directory of activities online that made it 
easy to find out what's available in the area. 
  
Councillor Lucy Richardson asked how officers were monitoring the effectiveness of 
transition services. 
  
Mandy Lawson said they were pulling together a joint group with Children's Services 
and Adult Social Care to have joint oversight of transition tracking. Councillor 
Richardson asked if officers were keeping records of people who 'fell through the 
net'. Mandy Lawson said there were fewer of those cases - the gap was in the ASD 
pathway but officers were working on this with Adult Social Care through the joint 
ASD strategy. 
  
Nandini Ganesh asked what about those young adults who weren't eligible for Adult 
Social Care. Mandy Lawson said their needs should be met through the community 
local offer and the industrial strategy. 
  
The Chair asked for more information on the inclusion work. Jan Parnell reported 
that the Council had commissioned Gary Kynaston, the Headteacher of 
Hammersmith Academy, to do a review of alternate provision (AP) in the borough. 
The report will be shared with the Committee shortly. Officers were also reshaping 
contracts with a range of AP providers. It was a key issue for Children's Services. 
Councillor Larry Culhane said the review was a fantastic example of the new way of 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

working - working in partnership with schools and academies. He thanked to Jan 
Parnell, Steve Miley and Gary Kynaston for a great piece of work. 
  
The Chair asked if there were any outstanding issues following the separation from 
the shared services arrangements. Steve Miley said the major one was the 
Education which was very slimmed down. There were a couple of areas that needed 
more capacity: 

 Childcare lead 

 AP lead 

 Children's Services Commissioning 
  
Jan Parnell noted that a new head of Early Years had been appointed and was 
starting in September. 
  
The Chair asked what the key cost pressures for the department were. Steve Miley 
said the major pressures were: 

 The High Needs Block (services for children with additional educational 

needs) - this was a national issue. The current funding formula wasn't based 

on the actual number of children with additional needs or the complexity of 

those needs. 

 Looked after Children's placements - high cost placements reflected the 

higher levels of deprivation and social disadvantage in society today. The 

Council was committed to providing care for those children but costs can be 

very high. 
 
Mandy Lawson added that the Council's commitment to ensuring disabled children 
don't need to go to out of borough placements would mean high cost individualised 
packages. 
 
The Chair requested a progress report that set out more detail on the areas covered 
in the report - including key indicators, costs, pressures etc. 

ACTION: Steve Miley 
  
Matt Jenkins asked if the Industrial Strategy was addressing the issues with T Level 
qualification and a lack of work experience placements. Jan Parnell said officers had 
worked with schools and special schools to deliver placements. The team had also 
written a 14-19 strategy that aligns with the industrial strategy. The Council wanted 
to use its contacts to put together an offer for schools and was working with the 
Economy department to help build capacity to support T Levels in schools. Jan 
Parnell added that she was about to engage with Founders for Schools on an online 
portal that would provide matching offers of mentoring, talks to schools etc. The 
Chair asked for an update on this at the next meeting. 

ACTION: Jan Parnell 
 

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

6. OUTCOME OF THE JOINT LOCAL AREA SEND INSPECTION  
 
Mandy Lawson, Assistant Director for SEND, presented the report with Alison 
Markwell, Designated Clinical Officer, who was working across the CCG and the 
Council to improve partnership and pathways. 
 
Alison Markwell informed the Committee that there were three key lines of enquiry:  

 Effective identification 

 Assessing and meeting needs 

 Improving outcomes - i.e. 'are we making a difference?' 
  
The inspection took place in December 2018 and inspectors commended H&F on 
how strong the inspection was. The borough was sent a letter from the minister and 
he even tweeted his congratulations. The report was clear that 'outcomes had 
improved' and there had been a 'sea change' since the creation of sovereign 
arrangements. 
  
Mandy Lawson and Alison Markwell discussed some of the key positive elements 
that were highlighted by the inspection: 

 One of the reasons the borough did well was its honest approach - the self-

evaluation element was very strong. 

 Moving away from the shared services arrangements enabled the service to 

be redesigned based on feedback from parents. 

 Joint-commissioning was a fundamental tenant and that was done well in 

Hammersmith & Fulham. 

 Educational outcomes for SEND were very strong, the borough had good 

special schools and SEND pupils were well supported in mainstream schools. 

 Mandy Lawson reported that they had great support from Councillors during 

the inspection too which was a key priority for them. 
  
The borough also had a strong partnership with Parentsactive - they have been very 
effectively holding the Council and the CCG to account. Co-production of services 
with parents was very strong, and officers wanted to develop that further with young 
people too. The SEND team were working closely with the Strategic Leads for Co-
production to take that forward. 
  
The main areas for development highlighted by the inspection were: 

 Integrating pathways - officers were working with health providers and 

children's centres to move this forward. 

 Improving SEND support for children without EHCPs.  

 Therapy - officers were looking to redesign speech and language therapy 

services. 

 Improving the Local Offer website. 

 Fixed-term exclusions in the secondary phase - an AP review had taken place 

and officers were doing behaviour work with schools to address this. 

 Inconsistently written ECHP - the bulk of EHCPs were transferred during 

shared services and were not done to the quality officers would have liked. 

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 Reducing the waiting time for an ASD diagnosis. 
  
An action plan had been written to address these issues and monitoring and 
governance processes had been put in place. There was a SEND inclusion board 
with the Managing Director of the CCG and the Director for Children's Services - and 
a SEND transformation group focussed on implementation. 
  
Councillor Mark Loveday asked officers to talk through the 'red' action on the tracker 
- action 15 that related to identification, assessment and early intervention. Mandy 
Lawson said this was a universal service for all children involving health visits that 
could pick up on delays in communication, socialisation, and motor development. 
The service should have been delivered jointly between early years and health 
visitors but that hadn't happened - it was delivered solely by health visitors at 
present.  
 
Councillor Loveday asked what plans were in place to integrate the service. Officers 
said Public Health colleagues could provide an answer outside the meeting. The 
Chair asked for Public Health to provide an update on this at the next meeting. 
 

ACTION: Anita Parkin 
  
Councillor Lucy Richardson asked if there were holiday activities for looked after 
children - she noted that Camden had a theatre group for children in care for 
example. Jan Parnell said H&F worked with the Lyric theatre and commissioned 
them to do theatre and film projects with looked after children. Bev Sharpe added 
that Children's Services put together specialist packages for children based on their 
interests - and put on a wide range of residential retreats. 
  
Councillor Larry Culhane took a moment to formally give the Council's thanks to 
Mandy Lawson, Nandini Ganesh and Parentsactive for the huge effort they had put 
into SEND services in the borough. Nandini Ganesh noted the inspection had been a 
challenge but said it had been a valuable experience. 
 

 
Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 8.20 pm 

 
 
Chair   

 
 
 
 
Contact officer David Abbott 

Scrutiny Manager 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 9



 
 

 
 

Youth Take Over Challenge 2019 

‘With Me 4 Me’ 

Report 
 

1. Overview: 
 

Youth Takeover Day (renamed Take Over Challenge in 2016), is an annual national 

event introduced in 2007 by the Children’s Commissioner for England and now 

sponsored by First News, a weekly publication for children. 

https://subscribe.firstnews.co.uk/ 
 
Each year thousands of children and young people are involved in ‘taking over’ roles 
across the country in a range of organisations including Local Authorities, schools, 
police and fire stations and newspapers. 
 
2019 was the 10th and biggest ever annual Take Over Day in LBHF.  Our Youth 
Council in partnership with the Family Assist Team and supported by the Young 
Hammersmith and Fulham Foundation, as well as a wide range of partners and local 
business, hosted Take Over Challenge- With Me 4 ME at Chelsea Football Club on 
25th November 2019.  
 
In previous years, Take Over Days have included a range of job shadowing, work 
experience placements and group challenges.  However in 2019, the Youth Council 
decided to use the event to drive forward the key areas of their manifesto; 
challenging young people and supporting professionals to give suggestions and to 
develop recommendations on issues such as knife crime, mental health, sexual 
health, positive relationships and access to opportunities and services.  
 
The day was aimed at encouraging more council departments, youth service 
providers and key decision makers to engage with and listen to the views of young 
residents on the issues that matter most to them and to enable young people to 
tangibly infuence the future of our services and the support and opportunities they 
receive.  
 

Knife Crime was a focus of the event, being the focal point of the Youth Council 

manifesto and having been identified as the key concern for the borough’s young 

Page 10

Agenda Item 4

https://subscribe.firstnews.co.uk/


 
 

residents in both the 2018 and 2019 Make Your Mark Ballots. (See 

https://youtu.be/pVxxoB-ozTY for a summary of the 2019 results). 

 

A partnership was established with the Family Assist Team to plan the event and a 

working group was set up including Youth Councillors, the LBHF Education and 

SEND teams, MET Police and the Young Hammersmith and Fulham Foundation, 

who helped to steer the 2019 Take Over Challenge. 

 

A huge range of partners offered their expertise and were involved in hosting 

activities and setting challenges on areas that the young people can tangibly 

influence including: LBHF officers and commissioners, Public Health, the MET 

Police, School Police, the Family Support Service, Chelsea FC, QPR, the Violence 

Intervention Project, Khulisa, Street Doctors, Turning Point and Image in Action. 

 

Further organisations including H&F Mind, CAMHS, Barnardo’s, Kick it, Xenzone 

Counselling Service, the Princess Trust, Key 4 Life, Crime Stoppers, Masbro and the 

Police Cadets, gave information and shared opportunities for young people on the 

day. 

 

2. Event specifics 

Members of the Youth Council hosted the event which was attended by 132 young 

people from the following schools and provision. 

 

Fulham Cross Girls 17 

Burlington Danes Academy 3 

Bridge Academy AP 5 

Latymer AP 2 

Hurlingham Academy  24 

Hammersmith Academy 8 

Cambridge School 25 

Children in Care Council 7 

Latymer Upper School 3 

West London Free School 1 

Sacred Heart 4 

QPR Apprenticeship Programme 7 

Fulham Boys 3 

West London College  4 

West London Free School 1 

William Morris Sixth Form 12 

Fulham College Boys 6 

Total  132 

 

Page 11

https://youtu.be/pVxxoB-ozTY


 
 

Our Youth Council and partners used the Great Hall and Centenary room at Chelsea 

FC (provided free of charge) to host a series of performances, promotional stands, 

challenges to seek the views of young people, give them a chance to try lots of 

different activities and get advice and opportunities.  

 

On arrival participants were split into designated groups of 5-7 young people with 

assigned mentors (volunteers from CHS and partner organisations) who supported 

them throughout the day to work through the wide range of interactive and multi-

media activities (see programme in Appendix 1 for more information). 

 

The day began with registration and an opportunity to access promotional stands.  

 

We had an interactive icebreaker from Dance West, followed by a speech from the 

CEO of First News and then an amazing performance from Synergy Theatre, “To My 

Younger Self”- written and performed by people previously involved in the Criminal 

Justice System. 

 

The groups were then assigned 2 activities in each of four coloured and themed 

zones, which included the following activities:   

  

Green Zone –feeling okay and emotional wellbeing 

 H&F Mind- Interactive game- ‘Cheer Pong’ introducing participants to the 5 

ways to well- being. 

 Family Assist- Activity on mindfulness. 

 THRIVE LDN- consultation on their regional campaign and how it can be 

localised to H&F. 

 Kooth Counselling- promotion of online services. 

 Family Support- Sharing the science (brain functionality). 

 

Yellow Zone – Staying safe  

 Synergy Theatre- Q+A with cast of ‘To My Younger Self” 

 Family Assist and MET Police- Consultation seeking young people’s views 

on knife crime and staying safe. 

 Street Doctors and School Police Team- Street safety workshop. 

 Khulisa- Activity on resilience.  

 Violence Intervention Project- Session on shame and links to youth 

violence. 

 

Blue Zone- employability and opportunities  

 

 Imperial College- TECH corner. 

 QPR- Apprenticeships and employability session. 

 Youth Commissioners- Consultation- Budgeting exercise on youth provision.  

Page 12



 
 

 Bush Theatre- Drama workshop on interview skills. 

 Chelsea FC- Apprenticeship and employability session. 

 

Orange Zone- your body matters 

 

 WILDE- Activity on healthy relationships. 

 Young Hammersmith and Fulham Foundation- Consultation on access to 

sexual health services in the borough. 

 Education Team- Consultation on sexual health and relationship education in 

our schools. 

 Turning Point and Image in Action- Session on consent and influence of 

drugs and alcohol (SEN focused). 

 Family Assist Team- STI game and awareness. 

 

Members of the Youth Council were assigned to the consultation activities in each 

zone (highlighted in yellow above) and recorded key feedback and quotes from the 

young people. They then fed this back to a panel of professionals representing each 

of the 4 themes for a question and answer session. 

 

The day was ended with performances from Oki a local rap artist and spoken word 

from the Anti- Tribalism movement whose performances focused on the key themes 

being addresses and a speech from our Leader Cllr Stephen Cowan. 

  

3. Allocated Budget and breakdown of spend 

 

Note use of the space at Chelsea FC and a range of ‘freebies’ and sponsored prizes 

were sought for free from partners and local business. 

 

3.1 Allocated Budget  

 

£11.000 from Youth Voice Budget (sits within 

Education) 

£4,000 from Public Health 

£1,800 from Education Team for film 

 

Total: £16,800 

 

3.2 Budget Breakdown 

 

£10,471 Catering, AV Equipment, Security and set up 

£800 Logo design and communications 

£1,800 Film to capture Youth Voice  

£300 Photography 

Page 13



 
 

£250 Journalist to work with Young Reporters  

£1,500 Decoration, signage and T-shirts for mentors, providers and zone leaders 

and misc. resources:  

£100 Volunteer and provider expenses  

 

4. What young people told us... 

 

A consultation session was carried out in each zone (highlighted in yellow on p3 and 

p4).  The feedback captured by the Youth Councillors, from the panel discussion and 

answers young people gave to questions posed on the application form, is 

summarised below: 

 

4.1 Key feedback from the Green Zone/Observations- (mental health and 

emotional well-being) 

 

 Schools should talk about emotional well-being and mental health regularly 
and, where possible, have dedicated times to focus on it (they should place as 
much importance on mental health as physical health). Lots of sessions on 
mindfulness, relaxation etc. 
 

 Encourage those that have experienced mental health issues to speak to 
other young people and help to raise awareness. 
 

 Ensure that services are accessible and tailored to the needs of specific 
groups including ethnic minorities, young people with disabilities and LGBTQ+ 
communities.   
 

 “You really need to listen to what young people who are going through things 
and what they are telling you they need”. 

 

 Ensure that schools are clear on what support is available for students, so 
they can advise them properly. 

 

 Have links to services including Kooth Online Counselling Service from school 
websites and useful apps. Various apps have been introduced to support with 
staying mentally health- but young people are unaware. 
  

 Advertise services- let young know about what help and support is available 
to them in a way that they would like to be told (full promotion of the Young 
Hammersmith and Fulham Foundation Website- with a focus on things to do 
and people to speak to). 

 

 Better use of social media- young people helping to promote opportunities 
and support to other young people. 

 

Page 14



 
 

 Some good examples of counselling in schools- others not so great. Schools 
to share the good things they do with each other- which will hopefully 
encourage those schools that don’t have much provision to do more.  
 

 More information is needed on where young people can access support 
(promoted in a youth friendly, non- stigmatising way and for ‘lower level 
support needs. “You can only get support when things get really bad and it 
shouldn’t be like that”.  
 

 Services that support young people should ensure that they check in regularly 
with them and continue to do so when they have finished working with them. 
Things can quickly change in a young person’s life and they are left 
vulnerable. 

 Services and schools to ensure they involve parents fully (when the young 
people want them to) which boosts awareness on how best they can talk to 
and support their child. 

4.2. Key feedback/Observations from the Orange Zone (Sexual Health and 

Relationships). 

 

 Colleagues were concerned by the limited knowledge of the young people on 

majority of subjects / issues in relation to their bodies, sexual health, and 

relationships. 

 

 There appears to be a focus on reactive services in the borough and not 
enough pro- active services, giving young people the information to make an 
informed choice, before they must go to a reactive service. 
 

 There was a variety of stakeholders that young people felt comfortable 

engaging with for advice: friends, family (especially older siblings and cousins 

– often not parents). 

 

 Teachers were not felt as being the best people to discuss this topic with. 
 

 Most young people could not name sexual health services in the borough. 
 

 Young people tended to have a negative perception of sexual health learning 
provision in their schools. Common complaint that they only received 
biological lessons and nothing much beyond. 

o PSHE did cover some content but felt it was patchy / focussed on 
relationships and not sex. 

o For those who did receive sexual health teaching, they often felt it was 
repetitive. 

  
Young people were asked to create people a ‘Youth Manifesto for SRE’.  
 
Suggestions included: 

Page 15



 
 

 One-to-ones with young people and professionals so they can ask questions. 

 Less teacher awkwardness, maybe more external people leading the session. 

 Group and individual 1-2-1s at youth clubs. 

 More sessions in mixed groups so young people can learn about different 

genders’ experiences.  

 Better information on contraception. 

 Focus on life skills 

 Parental relationships/how to talk to parents and children 

 The dangers of information on fake social media accounts, online safety, 

which websites are trustworthy for info on sex and relationships. 

 More on consent. 

 More on contraception. 

 How to identify that you might have an STI. 

 How to identify/have good relationships (including friendships). 

 Self-worth. 

 What to do if you are sexually assaulted. 

 Trust. 

 Teaching parents and children how to communicate with each other. 

 Creating a safe space in the family. 

 Help people find websites they can trust. 

 How to behave in sexual relationships – how to have conversations about 

sex. 

 ‘Red flags’ what you should and shouldn’t do in relationships. 

 Sex: Sexual health, practicalities, positive sexual experiences. 

 More outside speakers. 

 More PSHE – not just in form time when no one listens  

 A range of different opinions 

 Smaller groups 

 More than just science – needs to be realistic. 

 Very few understood the term menstrual cycle. (when it was re phased into 
periods, then only a few more understood that term)  

 None of them understood how to work out their menstrual cycle. 

 No young people had had a conversation on miscarriage, termination, 
choices, in their school environment. 

 Very few had had a conversation on positive relationships and the different 
types of relationships that people had. 

 80% did plan to have children in the future but had never had a conversation 
on their fertility and health. 

 20% said they did not want children, due to the state of the planet and its 
future. 

 A couple said that they might adopt. 

 Very few knew about how sperm was made and the health/ life of a sperm. 

 Very few knew about ovaries and eggs and only 2 of them knew how many 
eggs were released monthly. 

 Some young people thought you would have to have sex several times before 
you got pregnant. 

Page 16



 
 

 Overall, they had a very sporadic knowledge on contraception and STI’s. 

 None of them knew where to get free condoms, or emergency contraception 
from. 

 Very few were able to say what websites they could look up for further 
information and advice on sexual health support. 

 

4.3. Key feedback/Observations from the Blue Zone (Opportunities) 

 

Young people were asked to work in groups to decide how to spend a Youth 
Commissioning Budget and then to ‘pitch’ their ideas to Commissioners and Youth 
Councillors.  
 
The following ideas were suggested by the young people: 
 

1. Create an APP for young people in the area.  
 
Phone APP called – Youth help  

 Would show places to go in the area  
 Aimed at YP aged 12 and above  
 Allows YP to connect to each other  
 An incentive provided if YP attends the activity more than five times   
 APP is updated every three months with new activities if the older activities 
are under attended  
 APP responds to your personal profile and offer activities that suit that profile  
 APP conducts primary research on what is wanted/needed in the area 
through surveys/questionnaires  
 Feedback from parents on usage is fed into the APP  
 APP has a charity embedded for children in need and will make provisions to 
accept donations   
 APP has a virtual person that speaks to individuals that is personalised  
 This is run by young people that use the APP and passed down as they grow 
out of the age range  
 Security – whatever is said on the APP stays within the APP unless there is 
reason for concern  
 Safeguarding area – for YP to go to with any issues  
 The page will automatically be closed if anything bad is uploaded  
 Each YP has a unique ID    

  
2. Quiet Space – called Eureka  
 Not like a library; a quiet space where YP can come and take ‘time-out’  

o They could be stressed and need quiet time  
o Have big families with no space for themselves  
o Autistic   

 The space should be above ground level with a calming view  
 Benefits   

o Thinking time  
o Revising for homework with an advisor to support (not a homework 
club)  
o YP with mental health to come to a safe place  

 Mobile zone  

Page 17



 
 

o YP can focus on computer activity without being interrupted by others   
o Listen to music with headphones – chill out  

 Building donated by H&F  
  
  

3. Art classes called - Art Health – caters for all YP & adults with artistic 
interests  

o Choice of art  
o Using different materials  
o Twice a week - all year round  

 Intimate setting in open area so that work can be showcased and exhibited  
 All art completed displayed on site – feedback appreciated  
 Peer support teaching others their skills  
 Adults also in group so YP can gain experience – learning through example  
 Tutors available:  

o Teach various techniques  
o Demonstrate transferrable skills across all areas of art  

  
 Computer graphics with tutor teaching technical design  
 Cost effective to mix both types of art – technical & Traditional  

  
4. Gaming Area called - Retro Lounge   
 Computer games centre  
 Lower income families can participate, which would allow more YP to take 
part  
 Allows YP to play with friends at the centre in a safe environment  
 Coding classes taught  
 YP can compete against each other in a safe environment  
 Games and equipment donated – old games etc.  
 YP trial new games together   
 Prize as incentive for attending regular sessions  
 Youth clubs / schools to encourage YP to attend the activity  
 All games to have an underlying education theme  
 

5. Sports – called Sports Camp  
  

 YP aged 10 – 16 mixed gender  
 Activities – talks and discussions around life  
 Activity in the holidays  
 Focus on dance and football  
 

6. Driving Lessons called – Junior Drivers  
  

 Driving lessons for YP aged 16 to get them ready for when they receive their 
provisional licence  
 Preparation for test  
 Volunteers to loan cars for training  
 Lessons will  

o Build confidence  
o Provide access to more jobs with a licence after leaving school/college  

Page 18



 
 

  
 Qualification – theory through GCSE  
 USP – electric cars to be used  

  
7. Mobile music bus – called Beats on Wheels  
 Mobile bus comes to your local area  
 Free to use  
 Not just about recording music  

Benefits  
 Social interaction / café / pop-up-juice bar  
 Help to achieve a qualification learning ow to use the equipment  

  
8. Recycling service of bikes – pimp my bike or bling my bike   

First thought about the mobile DJ bus idea but felt that it would not attract many 
young people to it. They felt it needed some sponsorship maybe from a radio 
station.  They also said it would promote bad behaviour amongst young people as in 
misuse of the equipment etc.  
  

 Find a space to transform into a workshop   
 As well as doing up the bikes; young people; who build up skills for repairing 
bikes can help young people with their bikes if they have issues with them – lots 
of young people rely on bikes to get to school and college   
 Showcase the bikes – some sort of event or gallery for the bikes  
  
9. Impact  
 Give kids something to do – keep them off the streets   
 Gives them ownership over something they have been involved in especially if 
the young people themselves were involved in the running of it or promotion of 
the service  
 Lots of young people would be interested in this – they thought it would do 
well  
 So many bikes that are stored away or in the park just left.  Lots of bikes to do 
up  
 Gives young people skills to work as a team as well as creative skills and 
mechanical.  
 They found the costing of the service difficult but said that they have heard of 
projects like this in the boroughs that they live and said that lots of businesses 
could donate the items to do up the bikes.   

  
Several young people also made the point that there should be more opportunities 
for girls to access sports that are not integrated with boys; separate 
sessions.  Culturally difficult for them to attend activities as it means to mix with 
boys.  
 

4.4. Key feedback/Observations from the Yellow Zone (staying safe) 

Young people were asked: 

 

4.4.1. How can the Police/LA make you feel safer in London/your 
community? 

 

Page 19



 
 

Answers included:  

 Search more people (but in a justifiable and non- discriminatory way). 

 Be more present and look approachable (aggressive and unfriendly perception 

of police).  

 Be more responsible, 

 Theatre performances including retrospective stories of people who have been 

through that experience (such as Synergy Theatre’s to My Younger Self- 

shown at TOC is an effective way to get the message to young people. Young 

people seemed to appear more interested when speaking to the actors 

compared to other groups. 

 Police to be around more, out on patrol. 

 Building better relationships with and understanding of young people. 

 Come into school/talk to people. 

 Being around, getting more involved with the community and young people. 

 Have a better understanding of the issues that young people are facing from a 

young person’s perspective. 

 More awareness and sharing information on what police are doing to tackle 

crime and keep us safe. 

 More accessible places where police are and ways to contact police that 

young people know about. 

 More positive interactions rather than being just enforcement. 

 Police to do more workshops in schools on how we can keep ourselves safe. 

 Places that young people hang around to be better lit up and patrolled. 

 

4.4.2 What makes you feel unsafe in your community? 
 
Answers included:  
 

 Big groups of young people that are loud. 

 Dark streets and alley ways. 

 Bad lighting. 

 “Being in the wrong place at the wrong time.” 

 Excessive police presence. 

 Gangs and gang violence. 

 Intimidating young people. 

 Gangs around schools. 

 Going out at night. 

 Watching things on the news like murder, knife crime. 

 Hearing about young people getting stabbed/hurt locally. 

 Some areas have ‘dodgy’ people hanging around. 

 

4.4.3 How can you keep yourself safe when you are out and about in 
your community? 

Page 20



 
 

 
Answers included: 

 Always have a phone on your so you can call someone if you are in trouble. 

 Always have credit on your phone and battery life and try to ensure you go out 

with more than one person. 

 Be alert and aware of surroundings, rather than ‘zoning out’ on your phone. 

 Tell someone where you are going. 

 Don’t have jewellery and belongings on show. 

 

Deliverers and Youth Councillors also observed: 
 
A lack of awareness about what can make you a target for crime (common things 
young people do) for example  

 theft- waking around with headphones in,  

 lack of awareness about who you can turn to if you’re a victim of crime/theft, 
what to immediately do/how to respond if you’re a victim of crime, what 
resources are available etc. 

 
Also, a lack of awareness of the consequences of carrying offensive weapons: 

 what happens when you carry an offensive weapon, what counts as an 
offensive weapon, consequences to yourself and someone harmed by a knife 
(1 minute to bleed to death), consequences of having a criminal record 
limitation on colleges, travelling abroad and so on. 

 

5. Feedback on the event 

 

5.1 Positive comments 

An online feedback form was sent to participants and the Youth Council and 

supporting professionals were asked to provide feedback. Positive comments 

received so far include: 

 

 “The event really encouraged young people’s voices to be heard which allow 

them to express their thoughts and be a part of the bigger picture shaping the 

lives of the younger generation to get involved in making a difference in H&F 

and services they feel would benefit young people”. 

Jay Aryanel (Zamil Uddin) Project Manager & Youth Campaign Officer, Ctrl-Z 

 “Can I say well done to you and your team for putting on a great event, the 

feedback from some young people I know was really positive” 

Kevin Smith MET Police 

 

 “I had a really good day, learned so much and enjoyed everything” 

Hammersmith Academy Student 

 

 

Page 21



 
 

 

 “Overall it was a fantastic day, everyone I spoke to had a good experience 
and the consultations were incredibly useful for the Youth Council. We were 
able to listen to the views of people who we wouldn’t normally speak to, and 

their feedback help us better deliver our manifesto pledges. All the performers 
were brilliant and each of them left us with something to think about that was 
relevant to the day’s themes. In my activity (youth commissioning), we had a 

diverse range of ideas for youth services in the borough, many of which 
haven’t been thought of so far. I left with a much better sense of what YP want 
in terms of youth services, and much of what they said was different to what 

I’d thought before. E.g. How much people will realistically use a service, 
potential for people to misuse/abuse it, will it open any future opportunities, 
how can new services be advertised to get going? Once a few people start 

coming it’s more likely that people will hear through friends and go along - no 
one wants to show up to an empty room”. 

 

Ozan Erder Member of Youth Parliament 

 

 “It was really fun and interesting” 

BDA Student 

 

 “I loved being there. Meeting young people makes my job alive and 
worthwhile. I thought the Youth Council did a fantastic job”. 

Jacqui Mcshannon Director of Children’s Services. 

 

 “I thought yesterday went brilliantly so I wanted to say huge congratulations to 
you and the rest of the team. I really enjoyed being a part of it all and 

representing the Bush Theatre”. 
 

Izzy Hatton Bush Theatre 

 

 “I think it was a really good event and we got to talk about the things that 

really matter”. 

William Morris Student 

 

 “I think that Take Over Challenge this year has allowed the Youth Council to 
understand the views of young people about the key parts of our manifesto 

and it has shown the Council and other leading members of the borough what 

 “What a fantastic day and creative way to consult and work with young 

people”. Turning Point 

 “Just to say Ozan the Member of Youth Parliament was fab! He really did help 

with our workshop sessions! Got a lot more engagement from the young 

people with him there encouraging them. Great day”  

Susan Hughes Commissioner 

Page 22



 
 

areas we need to focus on to engage more young people and make them feel 
safer in their community” 

Hasana Hajimasaleh Youth Councillor 
 

 

“Most of all I enjoyed the performances and workshop on knife crime and 

safety. It’s important we keep talking about how we can change things. It was 

good to see lots of adults working with and listening to us.” 

Fulham Cross student 

 

5.2. Suggested improvements 

 Earlier notification and promotion of schools (there was a delay with 

confirming a free venue big enough to accommodate the event, which led to a 

delay in promotion to schools). 

 

 More involvement of YOS and CHS service users.  

 

 A fire alarm set off in the Chelsea hotel had an unforeseen knock on effect on 

registration and didn’t leave much time for people to access the promotional 

stands. Allow more time for promotional stands and have them nearer to 

where the young people sit for lunch. 

 

 The panel Q&A seemed a bit too long, make it shorter but more engaging 
would be good. Maybe the panellists could just give examples or there could 
be a more interactive way of giving feedback.  

 

 Youth Council to try out all activities beforehand to ensure they are as 
engaging, interesting and relevant as possible (some didn’t work as well as 
others) 
 

 The service providers in the Centenary Room didn’t have much to do for most 
of the day. Might be better if they’re there during registration only. 
 

 More time in the zones and less on speeches. 
 

 Perhaps less activities for slightly longer time. 
 
 

 Some mentors didn’t follow the rota, which led to some activities being missed 
out and others overcrowded. Hold a mentor briefing a week in advance of the 
day highlighting the importance of sticking to time. 
 

 Have Youth Council deliver the briefing in the morning. 
 
 

6. Expected outcomes and Next Steps 

 

Page 23



 
 

 The feedback will be presented to Full Council, CEPAC and all key partners 

including the MET Police, Public Health and targeted services. They will be 

asking Directors and Heads of Service to share with their teams and to agree 

a response to the young people’s feedback. 

 

 Feedback from the Green zone will be fed into Joint Targeted Area Inspection 
preparation. (The theme for 2019-20) is Children Living with Mental Health. 
They have also been shared with Thrive LDN’s Evaluation Lead who has 
added them to the data they have been collating from young people across 
London (whilst also logging them as specific to the borough of H&F for future 
local campaigns and engagement). 
 

 Feedback from the Orange zone is being compiled into a report as part of a 

bigger sexual health research project, and this will be used to inform a 

working group looking at linking together local services with SRE in schools.  

 

 Imperial college, Fulham Cross School and the Youth Council have developed 

an SRE intervention that can potentially be rolled out across all schools.  

 

  School Police teams have confirmed that they will arrange to deliver more 

workshops with young people and on what they do and why stop, and search 

is used as well as safety tips for young people. 

 

 A film is being finalised that captures Youth Voice in the development and 

delivery of Take Over Challenge. This will be shared widely and can be used 

to promote future events. 

 

 12 of the young people involved have expressed an interest in joining the 

Youth Council (7 have attended so far) and the schools involved are keen to 

support the recruitment drive in February, UK Youth Parliament and Youth 

Mayor elections in March and Youth Achievement Awards in April. 

 

 The event was a fantastic opportunity for networking with a massive range of 

organisations and services supporting young people in the borough brought 

together (many for the first time).  

 

 Youth voice opportunities were widely promoted to schools who are keen to 

engage in future Take Over Challenges and youth voice opportunities 

including Youth Council recruitment, UK Youth Parliament and Youth Mayor 

elections and the Youth Achievement Awards.  

 

 A report of the day was written by a group of Young Reporters and shared 

widely https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/articles/news/2019/11/young-people-tackle-big-

issues-youth-takeover-challenge-day 

 

Page 24

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/articles/news/2019/11/young-people-tackle-big-issues-youth-takeover-challenge-day
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/articles/news/2019/11/young-people-tackle-big-issues-youth-takeover-challenge-day


 
 

 

7. Photos from the Day 

 

https://www.flickr.com/photos/hammersmithandfulham/albums/72157711961628337 
 
 
 

Brenda Whinnett 
Youth Voice Coordinator 
January 2020 
 

Page 25

https://www.flickr.com/photos/hammersmithandfulham/albums/72157711961628337


 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
Report to: Policy & Accountability Committee 
 
Date: 02/01/20 
 
Subject: Integrated 2.5-Year-Old Health and Development Checks 
 
Report of: Phil Tomsett, Head of Early Years 
 

 
Summary 
 
A Local Area Inspection of SEND services was undertaken by CQC in December 
2018. Ofsted identified that health and development checks for children aged 2.5 to 
3 years should be more integrated in Hammersmith and Fulham and cited this as an 
area for development.  The Ofsted SEND action plan listed this as an action still to 
be completed.  Members of CEPAC requested an update against this action as a 
result.  This paper provides an update as to progress to date. 
 
Recommendations 
 

1. For the Committee to note and comment on the report 
 
 
Wards Affected: ALL 

 
 

H&F Priorities 
 
Please state how the subject of the report relates to our priorities – delete those 
priorities which are not appropriate  
 

Our Priorities Summary of how this report aligns to the 
H&F Priorities  

 Building shared 
prosperity 

Long term economic productivity in 
population cohorts is evidentially supported 
by early intervention and improved health 
and education outcomes for individuals in 
the early years. 

 Creating a 
compassionate council 

The integration of 2.5-year-old health and 
development checks facilitates early 
identification of need and the provision of 
effective support 

Page 26

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 Doing things with local 
residents, not to them 

Health and Education checks are voluntary 
for parents but are promoted in line with the 
government’s priorities for improved 
childhood health and social care outcomes. 

 Being ruthlessly 
financially efficient 

The integration of health and education 
checks identifies needs earlier in childhood, 
making preventative savings for local 
authorities in the long term  

 Taking pride in H&F 
Outcomes from health interventions are 
published nationally by Public Health 
England 

 
Contact Officer(s): 
 
Name: Phil Tomsett 
Position: Head of Early Years 
Telephone: 
Email: phil.tomsett@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
 
Ofsted Inspection Report 
 

 
 
1. Background 

 
 

1.1. Children aged 2- 3 years receive two different consent-based 
assessments.  One is an Early Years Foundation Stage progress check in 
Early Years Settings and the second is a health developmental review 
undertaken at two and half years by Health Visitors within the NHS Trust. 

1.2. Where a child is identified as needing more support Children’s Services 
and Health Services are required to arrange this and work in partnership 
as required. 

1.3. The health review forms part of the Government's Healthy Child 
Programme (GOV.UK) that aims to make sure children are healthy, 
supported and have access to the services they need. All children are 
offered a health and development review. The review assesses a wide 
variety of Health Outcome measures including: 

 Growth, healthy eating and keeping active 

 Managing behaviour and encouraging good sleeping habits 

 Dental health 

 Keeping your child safe 

 Vaccinations 

 Hearing and vision 

Page 27



 

 

 
1.4. The Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) progress check is undertaken 

by all Early Years settings (PVI, childminders and maintained nurseries) 
when the child is aged between 24-36 months covering the child’s 
development in the three prime learning and development areas of the 
EYFS: Personal, Social and Emotional Development; Physical 
Development; and Communication and Language.   

 
1.5. The aims of the progress check are to: review a child’s development in the 

three prime areas of the EYFS; ensure that parents have a clear picture of 
their child’s development; enable practitioners to understand the child’s 
needs and plan activities to meet them in the setting; enable parents to 
understand the child’s needs and, with support from practitioners, enhance 
development at home; note areas where a child is progressing well and 
identify any areas where progress is less than expected; and describe 
actions the provider intends to take to address any developmental 
concerns (including working with other professionals where appropriate). 

 
1.6. The progress check is a valuable part of the early identification process.  

The EYFS sets out best practice for Early Years settings to follow where 
concerns are identified to work together with the family and appropriate 
partner agencies to best meet the child’s needs.  

 
1.7. The EYFS Framework does not require the progress check to be 

completed in a prescribed or standard format and only children attending a 
setting are assessed. Ofsted will judge a setting on its assessment 
arrangements including the progress check.  The Early Years Service 
supports Early Years settings to ensure high quality arrangements are in 
place for individual settings. 

 
1.8. Integration of the two reviews is considered desirable, best practice and is 

recommended by the Department for Education and Department for 
Health as described in the ‘Implementing Integrated Reviews in health and 
early years’ resources pack. The CQC/ Ofsted commented in its local area 
SEND inspection report that, ‘the lack of joint clinics means that not all 
children are benefiting from a collaborative developmental review that may 
support the earlier identification of need. Leaders have recognised this and 
aim to pilot integrated reviews in January 2019.’ 

 
2. Integrating the reviews 

 
2.1. The NHS Trust and Early Years (EY) providers recognise integration of 

two-year checks as a priority. 
 

2.2. Integrating the reviews between EY and HV is currently undertaken by 
data share rather than physical meetings, and this is done by promoting 
the mutual use of the Red Book. The Red Book is the national standard 
and overcomes issues such as consent for data share. There is a page for 
Health Visitors and a page for Early Years Practitioners to report their 

Page 28



 

 

findings so that both services can appropriately respond to the Health and 
Education Needs of children. 

 
2.3. Public Health Nurses see children aged 2.5 for one appointment. Children 

under 3 that attend an EY setting are seen by EY practitioners on a more 
frequent basis. If a significant health need is identified and communicated 
to the HV service by the EY practitioner, then the HV will attend and 
reviews can be integrated.   
 

2.4. There has been a significant improvement in integration by offering a 
named, link HV for every EY setting. The HV offer and a link Health Visitor 
is not just for maintained settings but also for every Private, Voluntary 
Independent Sector setting (PVI), presented to the PVI forum in 
November. The Red Book method of data share and consent used by HVs 
was introduced to EY practitioners at the PVI forum. 
 

2.5. Integration of two year reviews in Hammersmith and Fulham is therefore 
delivered effectively by: 

 

 A data share of information via a common interface; the red 
book is the national standard.  

 A referral from EY settings to Health Visiting when a Health 
need is identified or suspected. When such needs are identified 
a joint meeting will be held. 

 
2.6. Leaders report that the services are working together more effectively. 

Family Support Services report that new protocols for sharing information 
are working, stating ‘The integration of the 2 development checks offers 
virtual communication with pathways to flag earlier collaborative 
identification of potential SEND need.  The Local Authority Early Support 
Panel gain earlier awareness of children who may require additional 
support.  Children of concern at an amber level are made known to 
Children’s Centres.  Subsequently the aim of the integration is to provide 
resource sooner to reduce and/or resolve SEND requirements if actions 
can be taken at an earlier point in a child’s life.’ 

 
2.7. The re-commissioning in 2020 of the Health Visiting Service presents an 

opportunity to consider with our Public Health partners the scope of further 
integration in line with best practice. Senior officers are already meeting to 
discuss how the service could be re-shaped to facilitate a more integrated 
approach.    

 
 
List of Appendices: 
None. 

Page 29



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
Report to:   Children and Education Policy & Accountability Committee 
 
Date:  28/01/2020 
 
Subject: 2020 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
 
Report of: Cabinet Member for Children and Education – Councillor Larry Culhane 

Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial Services – Councillor Max 
Schmid  

Responsible 
 Director:  Director of Children’s Services 

     Strategic Director of Finance and Governance 
 

 
 Summary 
 
 Cabinet will present their revenue budget and council tax proposals to 

Budget Council on 26th February 2020. A balanced budget will be set in 
accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

 
This report sets out the budget proposals for the services covered by this 
Policy and Accountability Committee (PAC). An update is also provided on 
any proposed changes in fees and charges. 

 
 Recommendations 
 

1. That the Policy and Accountability Committee (PAC) considers the budget 
proposals and makes recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate. 

 
2. That the PAC considers the proposed changes to fees and charges and 

makes recommendations as appropriate.  
 

 
 
Wards Affected: All 

 
 

H&F Priorities 
 

Our Priorities Summary of how this report aligns to the 
H&F Priorities  

 Being ruthlessly financially 
efficient 

We need to always confirm that spend fits 
our Council’s priorities; challenge how much 
needs to be spent; and achieve results 
within agreed budgets. Finance is 
everyone’s business and every penny 
counts.   

 

Page 30

Agenda Item 6



Contact Officer(s): 
 
Name:  Emily Hill  
Position: Assistant Director, Finance  
Telephone: 020 8753 3145 
Email:  emily.hill@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Name:   Andrew Lord  
Position:  Head of Strategic Planning and Monitoring 
Telephone: 020 8753 2531 
Email:  andrew.lord@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Name:   Tony Burton 
Position:  Head of Finance, Children’s Services and Education 
Telephone: 020 8753 5405  
Email:  tony.burton@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
 

 
Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
 
Not Applicable 
 

 
 

Proposals and Detailed Analysis 
 

The Budget Gap 
 

1.1. The 2020/21 gross General Fund budget1 is £525m of which the net budget 
requirement of £154.3m is funded from council resources (such as council 
tax and business rates) and general government grant. 
 
Table 1 – 2020/21 budget requirement  
 

Budgeted expenditure £m 

Housing benefit payments 110 

Departmental budgets 415 

Gross budgeted expenditure 525 

Less:  

Specific government grants (including housing 
benefits and dedicated schools grant) 

(234.5) 

Fees and charges (65) 

Contributions (e.g. health, other boroughs) (49) 

Other income (e.g. investment interest, rentals 
and recharges ) 

(22.2) 

                                            
1
 Figures exclude capital charges and internal service level agreements. These have a net nil impact on 

the budget. 

Page 31

mailto:andrew.lord@lbhf.gov.uk
mailto:tony.burton@lbhf.gov.uk


Budget requirement rolled forward to 
2020/21 

154.3 

 
1.2. The budget proposals  for 2020/21, and forecast to 2023/24, are summarised 

in Table 2. A balanced budget is proposed for 2020/21 with a contribution to 
reserves arising from one-off/ non-recurrent benefits, to enhance financial 
resilience, of £7.2m. 

 
Table 2 - Budget Summary  

 

  2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

  £m £m £m £m 

Base budget 154.3 154.3 154.3 154.3 

Add:         

Cumulative inflation 
(including pay awards) 

4.2 8.4 12.6 16.8 

Provision for future demand 
& demographic pressures 

0 4.0 8.0 12.0 

Investment 8.3 8.3 8.3 8.3 

Increase in the unallocated 
contingency 

0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 

Savings and additional 
income 

-12.8 -13.5 -14.2 -14.2 

Adjustment for one off items 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 

Contribution to reserves 7.2 0 0 0 

Budgeted expenditure 162.2 162.5 170.0 178.2 

Less:         

Government resources (34.2) (34.2) (34.2) (34.2) 

Business rates (57.2) (57.2) (57.2) (57.2) 

Fair funding impact 
(estimate) 

0 4.0 8.0 12.0 

Council tax  (63.8) (64.4) (65.0) (65.6) 

One-off use of resources (5.3) 0 0 0 

Use of developer 
contributions for enhanced 
community safety 

(1.7) (1.7) (1.7) (1.7) 

Budgeted resources (162.2) (153.5) (150.1) (146.7) 

Cumulative budget gap  0 9.0 19.9 31.5 

 
Budget Assumptions 
 

1.3. Government grant funding will increase by £3.6m from 2019/20 to 2020/21 
as a result of the Government’s pre-election spending round in September 

Page 32



2019. This increase follows a decade of grant cuts with overall funding 
reducing by £68m from 2010/11 to 2020/21. This was a real terms funding cut 
of 54%. 
 

1.4. However, the government have indicated they will undertake what they are 
terming a ‘fair funding review’ in 2020/21. This has the remit of reconsidering 
how grant is distributed between authorities. It is likely to be bad news for 
Hammersmith and Fulham and other London authorities as it is anticipated 
that resources will be redistributed away from inner city areas, which have 
traditionally received funding to address higher levels of deprivation, to other 
parts of the country with lower levels of deprivation. The Council will 
campaign vigorously against any such distribution away from areas of higher 
need.  
 

1.5. The government has modelled an adult social care precept since 
2016/17. In the first years of the levy, the Council determined not to apply the 
levy in Hammersmith and Fulham, despite the fact the Council’s funding from 
government was modelled on the assumption that we would. Due to the 
continued high levels of inflation in the social care market and the 
government’s continued failure to propose a long-term funding solution to 
social care funding, the Council proposes to allow 2% of the government’s 
adult social care levy for 2020/21. The total levy increase for Hammersmith 
and Fulham over the 5 years to 2020/21 will be 4% compared to the 10% 
increase assumed by the government. The Council is committed to using 
such funding to support adult social care.  

 
1.6. An increase in the Hammersmith & Fulham element of council tax of 

1.99% is modelled for 2020/21. This will generate extra income of £1.2m in 
2020/21 and £4.9m over a four-year period. This will support investment in 
key services for residents and future financial resilience. The Hammersmith 
and Fulham Band D Council Tax charge is the third lowest in the country and 
35% below the London average. This is significantly below the July 2019 
Retail Price Index inflation used for the Council’s financial planning.  
 

1.7. The business rates system, as set out in Table 3, is changing for a fourth 
successive year. For 2020/21 the government have ended the pilot London 
Business Rates pool with the share of business rates retained by LBHF 
reverting to 30%.  

 
  

Page 33



Table 3 – Business Rates Retention Scheme 
 

 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Hammersmith & Fulham 30% 64% 48% 30% 

Greater London Authority 37% 36% 27% 37% 

Government 33% 0 25% 33% 

Pool arrangements None 100% 
pilot pool 

75% pilot 
pool 

Potential 
London 

pool 

Business rates revaluation Yes No No No 

H & F income (net of tariffs and adjusted on a like for like basis) 

H & F share of business 
rates 

£59.5m £56.5m £57.0m £57.2m 

Pool benefit (1-year lag i.e. 
2018/19 benefit recognised 
in 2019/20) 

0 0 £4.3m 
(£2.3m to 
reserves) 

£1.9m 
(to 

reserves) 
 

Assumed in 
budget/contribution to 
reserves 

£59.5m £56.5m £61.3m £59.1m 

 
1.8. London Local Government took forward a 100% business rates retention pilot 

in April 2018. This pooled business rates income across the 33 London 
Boroughs and GLA with all growth shared. The government reduced this to a 
75% pilot in 2019/20 and have announced it will cease for 2020/21. 
 

1.9. Current modelling forecasts that Hammersmith and Fulham will benefit by 
£1.9m from the 2019/20 pilot and this is assumed within the 2020/21 budget. 
As the pilot has ceased, the expected benefit is a one-off sum and therefore 
will be taken to reserves. The actual benefit will not be confirmed until 
September 2020. 

 
1.10. London Local Government is developing a new pooling arrangement, without 

government support, for 2020/21. The financial benefit will be significantly less 
(as the government will take a higher proportion of the income raised and 
growth). No benefit is assumed from a possible new 2020/21 pool within the 
current budget forecast. Any benefit will be considered within the 2021/22 
budget process. 

 
1.11. Table 4 sets out the business rates budget for 2019/20 and 2020/21. The 

business rates system sets a safety net threshold which guarantees a 
minimum income to the Council. The 2017 business rates revaluation resulted 
in a high-level of rates appeals by businesses in LBHF. This has required the 

Page 34



Council’s share of business rates income to be budgeted at the safety net 
threshold of £57.2m. The safety net threshold is set at 92.5% of the funding 
baseline (compared to 95% in the pool) resulting in a lower guaranteed 
income from business rates.   

 
1.12. The instability in the government’s approach to business rates makes 

medium-term financial planning difficult. 
 

 
Table 4: Comparison between 2019/20 and 2020/21 business rates 
income 

 

  2019/20 2020/21 

 £m £m 

Business rates baseline  123.0 78.0 

Tariff payable to the government (45.0) (16.1) 

Funding baseline 78.0 61.9 

Safety net threshold (included in LBHF budget) 74.1 57.2 

Less Revenue Support Grant collected within business rates in 
2019/20 

(17.1) 0 

Budgeted business rates  57.0 57.2 

 
 
1.11 An updated forecast for business rates will be undertaken by all Boroughs in         

January 2020. This will confirm the Hammersmith and Fulham 2020/21 estimate 
and provide more clarity on the potential benefits from the 2019/20 pilot pool 
arrangements.  

 
1.12 Developer Contributions. Planning obligations under s.106 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), known as s.106 agreements, are a 
mechanism which make a development proposal acceptable in planning terms, 
that would not otherwise be acceptable. They are focused on site specific 
mitigation of the impact of development. Property developments have placed 
increased pressure on council services in recent years.  

 
1.13 Local planning authorities are required to use the funding in accordance with the 

terms of the individual planning obligation legal agreement. This will ensure new 
developments are acceptable; benefit local communities and support the 
provision of local infrastructure. In LBHF there are three broad categories of 
s.106 contributions received: 

 for a specific purpose defined and described in the s.106 agreement (such 

as specific highway works) 

 for a general functional purpose defined and described in the s.106 

agreement but with geographical constraints (such as provision of 

community infrastructure in the White City area) 

 for a general purpose defined and described in the s.106 agreement but 

with no borough geographical constraints (such as economic development, 

education purposes, community safety initiatives etc). 

Page 35



1.15 Provided the Council respects the obligation to maintain a reasonable 
relationship with the developments and complies with the specific terms of each 
of the s.106 agreements giving rise to the funds, the Council has a degree of 
discretion as to how it allocates and spends some of the general purpose funds.  
The Council has determined that a key priority area for the investment of 
available s.106 funds with general purposes is the provision of enhanced 
community safety arrangements. The 2020/21 budget assumes that 
contributions of £1.7m are invested to fund enhanced arrangements in this area 
and this can be met from receipts currently in hand. 

  
1.16 A number of s.106 agreements have been negotiated which will result in the 

receipt of additional funds in the future. There is a level of uncertainty around the 
receipt of future s.106 funds as this relies on developments commencing and 
achieving specified trigger points. The Council will continue to monitor the receipt 
of s.106 funds expected in the short and medium term, where the level of 
uncertainty around trigger points increases, and is developing a strategic 
approach for investment of future s.106 funds. 

 
1.17 Inflation. A national pay award has yet to be agreed for 2020/21. Provision is 

made within the budget for an increase of up to 2% (£1.7m) and this will be held 
corporately until a national agreement is reached on the annual pay award. 
Inflation of £2.6m has also been provided, on a case by case basis, to meet 
contractual requirements. 

 
 
 
INVESTMENT, SAVINGS AND RISKS 

 
1.18 Investment in services and savings proposals for the services covered by this   

 PAC are set out in Appendix 1 with budget risks set out in Appendix 2. 
 

Investment  
 

1.19 Investment in services is summarised by department in Table 5 and by 
 category in Table 6. 

 
Table 5: 2020/21 Investment Proposals 
 

Department £m 

Children's Services 5.5 

The Environment Department 0.5 

Public Services Reform 0.1 

Social Care 0.7 

Council Wide 1.5 

Total 8.3 

 
  

Page 36



 
Table 6: Categorisation of investment proposals  
 

 £m 

Increase in demand/demographic growth 6.4 

Resident priority 1.9 

Total 8.3 

 
 Savings 
 
1.20 The Council faces a continuing financial challenge due to overall Central  

Government funding cuts, unfunded burdens, inflation, and demand and 
growth  pressures. The budget gap will increase in each of the next three 
years if no action is taken to reduce expenditure, generate more income 
through commercial revenue and continue to grow the number of dwellings 
and businesses in the borough. 
 

1.21 To proposed savings (including additional income) for 2020/21 are set out by 
department in Table 7. 

 
  Table 7: 2020/21 savings and additional income 
 

Department £m 

Children's Services (0.8) 

Finance & Governance (4.5) 

The Economy Department (0.8) 

Public Services Reform (0.3) 

The Environment Department (1.0) 

Social Care (2.5) 

Council Wide  (2.9) 

Savings (12.8) 

 
1.22 The saving proposals are categorised by savings area in Table 8. 
 

  Table 8: Categorisation of 2020/21 savings  
 

 £’m 

Service rationalisation/budget reduced in line with spend (3.0) 

Commercialisation/Income  (2.0) 

Debt reduction and restructuring (0.3) 

Pension - triennial Valuation (2.1) 

Prevention (1.5) 

Procurement / Commissioning (0.8) 

Service reconfiguration (0.9) 

Staffing / Productivity (2.2) 

Total All Savings (12.8) 

 
  

Page 37



Risk, revenue balances and earmarked reserves 
 

1.23 The Council’s General Fund gross budget is £525m. Within a budget of this 
magnitude there are inevitably areas of risk and uncertainty particularly within 
the current challenging financial environment. The key financial risks that face 
the Council have been identified and quantified. They total £18.5m. Financial 
risks of £24m were identified when the 2019/20 budget was set. 

 
1.24 Reserves play a crucial role in good public financial management. They exist so that 

a council can make one off investment in service transformation for the future or to 
respond to one off unexpected events or emerging needs. They are the foundation 
for good financial management and resilience. As one-off resources they can only be 
spent once. 

 
1.25 As part of the Audit Findings Report for the year ended 31 March 2019 the Council’s 

external auditors (Grant Thornton) commented on the level of the Council’s reserves: 
 
 ‘The Council’s reserves level is of concern as there doesn’t appear to be sufficient 

cushion to weather the ongoing financial challenges that the Council will face over 
the medium term due to reductions in central government funding and forecast 
pressures of the DSG funding. The Council only has finite reserves available and it 
is important that you continue to maintain appropriate budgetary control. It cannot 
be stressed enough how important it is to have a fall back position to address the 
challenges of the future.  We have seen a number of Councils reach the financial 
precipice and members have a fiduciary duty to ensure the Council retains financial 
sustainability.  We would strongly recommend that use of reserves remains limited 
in future years other than for specifically earmarked schemes.’ 

 
1.26 The Council has put in place a reserves strategy to ensure effective oversight 

regarding the level and use of reserves and established an action plan to 
maintain reserves at an appropriate level. In accordance with the action plan, 
the 2020/21 budget proposals include new one-off contributions to reserves 
of £7.2m.    

 
General fund balances 

 
1.27 The Council’s general balance stood at £19m as at 1 April 2019 and it is 

currently projected that this will not reduce in the current financial year. This 
will leave general balances at 3.6% (equivalent to 13 days spend) of the 
Council’s gross budget of £525m.   

 
1.28 Given the on-going scale of change in local government funding, and risks facing the 

Council, the Strategic Director, Finance and Governance  considers that general 
balances need to be maintained within the range of £14m to £20m. The optimal level 
is projected to be broadly met over the next 4 years and is, in the Strategic Director’s, 
Finance and Governance, view sufficient to allow for the risks identified and to 
support effective medium-term financial planning.  

  

Page 38



 
 Earmarked reserves 
 
1.29 The Council holds a number of one-off earmarked reserves. The latest 

forecast to 2023/24 is set out in Table 9. In the Strategic Director’s, Finance 
and Governance, view such reserves are adequate to deal with anticipated 
risks and liabilities. 

 
Table 9:  Reserves forecast to 2022/23 
 

 

 Opening 
balance 
2019/20 

Budgeted 
contributions 

to 2023/24 
Commitments 

to 2023/24 

 
Total 

2023/24 

 
£m £m £m £m 

Earmarked reserves 44.8 36.1 (37.4) 43.5 

New contributions in the 
2020/21 budget 

   7.2 

Forecast earmarked 
reserves 

   50.7 

General balances 19.0   19.0 

Earmarked restricted 
reserves 

17.5  (7.7) 9.8 

Current year forecast 
overspend 

   (9.5) 

Other potential uses of 
reserves  

   (28.6) 

Total reserves  41.4 

 
1.30 The existing commitments include the planned investment of earmarked 

reserves on council priorities (for example implementing the Information 
Technology strategy and incentive payments to landlords).  

 
1.31 Net General Fund reserves of £6m are set  aside for the civic campus scheme. 

This is based, in line with the current programme, on funding of lease costs for 
a 3.5 year relocation. The call on general fund reserves would increase  by 
£5.9m if relocation was deferred to 5 years. The scheme benefits include 
efficiencies in delivering modern, inclusively designed and fit-for-purpose office 
and civic accommodation for its staff and visitors, as well as for small and 
start-up businesses. It also avoids the need for significant capital investment in 
the existing Town Hall and Town Hall Extension, which in 2017 was estimated 
at between £29.2m and £53.5m for both buildings, depending on the extent of 
refurbishment works undertaken and excluded professional fees (estimated to 
be at least £2m) and the cost of decanting staff to allow works to take place. 

 
1.32 The other potential uses for reserves includes allowance for a future shortfall in 

funding for pupils with high needs.  For Hammersmith and Fulham, there 
was a cumulative shortfall in the Dedicated Schools Grant (from government) 
provided to fund expenditure on pupils with high needs of £13.8m at the close 
of 2018/19. The Council is developing options for a deficit recovery plan and 

Page 39



estimates that it will receive extra grant of £2.9m from 2020/21 onwards. 
Despite this funding increase, demographic and other pressures, require that a 
further £15m be set aside regarding the shortfall for the current year and next 
4 years. The Council is also discussing with auditors how this should be 
treated on the Council’s Balance sheet following a consultation by the 
Education Funding and Skills Agency. Pending further clarification, the Council 
has prudently set aside a reserve to cover the potential deficit. 

 
1.33 The Strategic Director, Finance and Governance considers that current reserves 

are adequate to deal with anticipated risks and liabilities. Reserves can only be 
spent once and the forecast to 2023/24 identifies a tightening in the Council’s 
finances that will need careful management and review. Continued focus will be 
required on keeping spend within budget, avoiding the use of reserves to balance 
future budgets and on rebuilding reserves to support future investments and 
priorities. 

 
 FEES AND CHARGES 
 
1.34  The budget assumes these are: 

 
- Frozen for Adult Social Care, Children’s Services and Housing.  

- A standard uplift of 2.8% based on the July 2019 Retail Price Index applied 

for other non-Commercial and non-parking fees. 

- Commercial services that are charged on a for-profit basis, will be reviewed 

on an ongoing basis in response to market conditions and varied up and 

down as appropriate, with appropriate authorisations according to the Council 

constitution.  

- Parking charges and fines are set in line with transport policy objectives and 
are not considered as part of the budget process. 

There are no exceptions to these assumptions for this Committee. 

 
2020/21 COUNCIL TAX LEVELS 

 
1.35 The administration proposes to increase the Hammersmith & Fulham element 

of council tax by 1.99% for 2020/21. The Band D charge will be £792.42. This 
is significantly below the July 2019 Retail Price Index inflation used for the 
Council’s financial planning.  

 
1.36 This will result in a net cash terms increase of 3.7% since 2014/15 and 

compares to real terms inflation2 of 15% over the same period. Unlike before 
2014, no grant has been offered by government to councils who freeze or cut 
council tax. Instead, since 2014/15 the government, within the grant process, 
have assumed a Council tax increase of 12.6%. The 1.99% increase will 

                                            
2
 As measured by movement in the Retail Price Index 

Page 40



generate extra income of £1.2m in 2020/21 and £4.9m over a four-year period. 
This will support investment in, and protect, key services for residents and 
strengthen future financial resilience. 

 
1.37 As set out below, 53% of dwellings are liable for 100% council tax with 

exemptions/discounts for council tax support claimants, students, care leavers 
and single person households. 

 
Table 9:  Liability for council tax 
 

Total dwellings in the borough 90,500 

Reductions:  

Exemptions (mainly students, includes care leavers) (4,000) 

Council tax support claimants (elderly & working age on low 
income) 

(11,400) 

Single person discount (25% discount) (27,500) 

Dwellings liable for 100% of council tax  47,600 
53% 

 

 
1.37 The government’s modelled adult social care precept levy of 2% will 

generate additional income of £4.9m over 4 years and £1.22m in 2020/21. This 
will increase the Band D Council Tax charge by £15.24 per annum (4.2p per 
day).  
 

1.38 The overall increase in the LBHF element of the Band D charge, including the 
government’s modelled 2% adult social care precept, is £30.40 (8.3p per day). 

 
 
Table 10: LBHF Band D Council Tax Charge 
 

2019/20 LBHF Band D charge £762.02 

Proposed H&F Element Increase of 1.99% £15.16 

Proposed Adult Social Care precept of 2% £15.24 

2020/21 Total LBHF Band D charge £792.42 

 
 

Comments of the Director of Children’s Services on the budget proposals 

1.39 During the past year Children’s Services have consolidated the new sovereign 
department and further strengthened practice and services to improve outcomes for all 
children and young people. The experiences of our most vulnerable children and young 
people have been scrutinised in the Ofsted inspection of children with special 
educational needs and disabilities in 2018 and most recently in the 2019 inspection of  
Local Authority services to children in need of help, protection, care, leaving care, 
fostering and adoption. This judged services to be good in the three key domains 
including help and protection, care and care leavers and leadership and management. 
The performance in all phases of education continues to be excellent with a strong 
collegiate approach which is evidenced in school inspection outcomes.   

Page 41



1.40 Over recent years the Children’s Services department has experienced increasing 
demand for its services which has put significant strain on the limited resources 
available. Referrals and placements for looked after children and care leavers have 
increased along with significant rises in the demand, complexity and statutory 
responsibilities for young people with special education needs (SEN). The 2020/21 
budget seeks to fund these additional pressures enabling a high-quality service to be 
maintained whilst also contributing to the requirement for efficiencies in a way that 
protects young people and improves outcomes. 

1.41 The department’s approach to identifying potential savings has been consistent with 
the vision for Children’s Services which is: 

To improve the lives and life chances of our children and young people; intervene early 
to give the best start in life and promote wellbeing; ensure children and young people 
are protected from harm; and that all children have access to an excellent education 
and achieve their potential. All of this will be done whilst continually reviewing how to 
reduce costs and improving service effectiveness.  

1.42 The aspiration and ambition to ensure consistent and compassionate care and 
improved outcomes is underpinned by a continuing commitment to protect the quality of 
services to the most vulnerable members of the community within the statutory 
provisions required of the department. Equally strong is the central commitment to work 
with children, young people and their families in the design and development of 
services that affect them. A priority will be to review services against need to ensure 
that they are responsive, efficient and offer the right outcomes for children and young 
people. A stronger focus on better understanding the drivers of demand and local 
needs will inform effective targeting and earlier use of resources and proactively 
identify, address and resolve need and keep children and young people safe, healthy 
and engaged in learning. Improved performance information and business intelligence 
will underpin this priority. 

Table 11 – Children’s Services key budget changes 2020/21 

Directorate 
Savings 

£ 

Contract 
Inflation 

£ 

Investment 
£ 

Assets, Operations & Planning -250,000 2,000 0 

Children's Commissioning 0 62,000 0 

Education 0 800 0 

Family Services -200,000 238,900 4,118,000 

School Funding 0 0 0 
Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities -386,000 79,700 1,399,000 

Total -836,000 383,400 5,517,000 

   

1.43 The department’s proposed net budget for 2020/21 is £51.315m. Within this sum are a 
number of areas over which the department has little direct control, these are defined 
as non-controllable and include contributions to corporate services and capital charges. 
In total these add up to £7.148m. This means that the net direct expenditure that the 

Page 42



department is in control of is £44.166m. The table below sets out how controllable 
expenditure is budgeted across the various directorates within the department showing 
that the greatest share of net general fund expenditure is on Family Services, £30.563m 
(69%) of net controllable expenditure. 

Table 12 – Children’s Services 2020/21 controllable budget 

 

 

 

1.44 Family Services social care spend is primarily made up of staffing and placement costs. 
Increasing caseloads and complexity of cases have led to growing pressures over recent 
years. The 2020/21 budget seeks to address the continued growth in placements 
expenditure caused by increasing numbers and more complex cases with placements 
budget investment of £4.118m. £0.2m of savings are also targeted against the 

Directorate

2020-21 

Expenditure 

£'s

2020-21 Income 

£'s
Total Net £'s % share

Assets, Operations & Planning 2,587,700 -2,572,100 15,600 0%

Children's Commissioning 6,157,700 -1,050,600 5,107,100 12%

Education 55,249,700 -54,434,600 815,100 2%

Family Services 36,318,800 -5,755,800 30,563,000 69%

School Funding 10,695,600 -10,695,600 0 0%

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 30,913,800 -23,248,600 7,665,200 17%

Total 141,923,300 -97,757,300 44,166,000 100%

Children's 
Commissioning

12%

Education
2%

Family Services
69%

Special 
Educational 
Needs and 
Disabilities

17%

% of General Fund Net Controllable Budget

Page 43



placements budget and will attempt to reduce cost and at the same time have a positive 
impact on service users. 

1.45 While investment has been awarded for placements, the staffing budget has not been 
increased and the additional work generated by the increased placement numbers and 
complexity of cases is being absorbed within the existing staff structures. Table 13 
shows the total growth and savings to staff and placements budgets in 2019/20 and 
2020/21. 

Table 13 – Family Services investment and savings (2019-20 and 2020-21) 

CHS Spend 
Type 

Sum of 
2019-20 

Investment 

Sum of 
2019-20 
Savings 

Sum of 
2020-21 

Investment 

Sum of 
2020-21 
Savings 

Total 2019-20 
and 2020-21 

investment less 
savings 

as a % of 
2020-21 
budget 

Staffing 962,000 0 0 0 962,000 7% 

Placements 2,282,000 
-

1,003,000 4,118,000 
-

200,000 5,197,000 34% 

 

Table14 – Family Services controllable budget expenditure types 

 

1.46 Assets, Operations and Planning is responsible for ensuring we have a sufficient number 
of school places across the borough, tackling the challenge of modernising and 
improving the school estate through major regeneration programmes as well as 
coordinating projects across the department. In addition to the net general fund budget 
of £0.016m there is Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded spend on school assets as 

Staffing
39%

Other 
expenditure

7%

Placements
50%

Client non 
placement

4%

Family Services Controllable Expenditure Subjective 
Breadown

Page 44



well as staff delivering these services. The 2020/21 budget proposes no significant 
changes in this area although staffing efficiency savings of £0.250m are shown here 
while detailed plans are consulted on and specific posts are identified on before final 
allocation.  

1.47 The Education directorate provides intensive support for schools requiring 
improvement, co-ordination of all primary moderation for Key Stage 2 and admissions, 
attendance and child employment services. The budget of £0.815m is predominantly the 
general fund contribution to staff delivering the local authority statutory responsibilities 
such as governors support and Education Partnership services. The 2020/21 budget 
proposes no significant changes in this area. However, this needs to be set against the 
uncertainty of a new Ofsted framework and inspection regime. 

1.48 The Special Education Needs and Disabilities (SEND) directorate provides services for 
0-25 year olds with special educational needs or disabilities. A number of its services are 
fully, or part funded by the DSG. The net general fund budget of £7.665m includes 
£3.397m on travel care and support. Growth of £0.886m as well as £0.129m of savings 
are targeted here and are to be delivered through improvements to the operating model 
and extension of the existing strategy to provide independent travel training and route 
sharing which enable the current service offer and standards to be maintained. Short 
breaks and resources including care packages for disabled children, the Stephen 
Wiltshire Centre and the Haven account for £3.336m of the budget. Growth of £0.513m 
is provided to the disabled children’s placement budget, to address increases in demand 
and rising costs, along with savings of £0.257m. 

1.49 The budget for the Commissioning function returned to Children’s Services in 2019/20 
and for 2019/20 totals £5.107m. Within this total £4.959m is allocated to contract costs.  
Staffing accounts for £1.136m.  The team is responsible for a range of commissioning, 
transformation and service improvement activity, supporting the department to shape 
provision using innovative approaches to ensure quality and cost effectiveness.  This 
includes the commissioning of youth and children’s centre provision, School Meals and 
Transport services. 

1.50 Savings totalling £0.836m have been identified for 2020/21 and are set out in Appendix 
1.   

1.51 The savings proposals for Children’s Services will seek not only to protect front-line 
services and to continue to offer a service appropriate to local need, but to improve our 
offer to residents facing difficult circumstances such as poverty and higher levels of 
need. The proposals will seek cost reductions through reduced spending on costly 
external placements by enhancing or expanding in-house provision.  

1.52 At the core of all savings proposals will be services that strengthen families and help 
parents care for their children; whilst steadfastly remaining vigilant with regards to our 
duty of safeguarding vulnerable children and young people; taking decisive action to 
protect those that need it. 

1.53 Appendix 1 also details £5.517m investment in 2020/21 for Children’s Services. 
Investment is targeted at the budget pressures and rising demand experienced in 
2019/20 in social care placements, disabled children’s placements and travel care and 
support.  

Page 45



Equality Implications 
 

1.54 A draft Equality Impact Analysis (EIA), which assesses the impacts on equality of 
the main items in the budget proposals relevant to this PAC, is attached as 
Appendix 3. A final EIA will be reported to Budget Council.  

Page 46



 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext. of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None    

 
 
List of Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 – Savings and investment proposals 
 
Appendix 2 – Risks 
 
Appendix 3 – Draft Equality Impact Assessment 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 47



Appendix 1

Children's Services and Education

Ref Nos Service Title & Theme Summary 
Delivery 

Risk 
(H-M-L) 

2020-21 Budget 
Change 

Cumulative  
(£000's)

2021-22 
Budget 
Change 

Cumulative  
(£000's)

2022-23 Budget 
Change 

Cumulative  
(£000's)

2023-24 Budget 
Change 

Cumulative  
(£000's)

1
Commissioning 

Social Care  
Semi Independent Living

Improved model for care leaver housing delivered jointly between the Economy 
department and Children's Services

H (200) (200) (200) (200)

2
Travel Care and 

Support      

Travel Care and Support. 
Mitigations of existing demand 
pressure led overspend.  Options 
identified as most viable, aligning 
to the wider strategic aims of the 
council and manifesto pledges.

Operating Model of Travel Care and Support:
- Restructure of Management and workforce costs
- Personal Travel Care Budgets
- Use of current home carers and personal assistants to support clients in 
transport.

Extension of existing strategy:
- Provision of travel training to support young people to travel independently
- Review of vehicle types / summer mobilisation
- Sharing routes where it supports young people to be with their peers and 
friends travelling to the same destination

M (129) (129) (129) (129)

3 All Services Staffing Efficiencies
Staffing efficiencies and consolidation to partially close the service budget 
shortfall

L (250) (250) (250) (250)

4 SEND      
Disabled Children Care packages, 
direct payments and residential 
placements

Overspend addressed through co-production and implementation of policies and 
services to ensure needs to disabled children are met within local services at the 
earliest stage of need. This includes the development of a specialist behaviour 
outreach service, jointly with the Hammersmith and Fulham Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG).

M (257) (523) (578) (578)

(836) (1,102) (1,157) (1,157)

Ref Nos Service Title & Theme Summary 

2020-21 Budget 
Change 

Cumulative  
(£000's)

2021-22 
Budget 
Change 

Cumulative  
(£000's)

2022-23 Budget 
Change 

Cumulative  
(£000's)

2023-24 Budget 
Change 

Cumulative  
(£000's)

CHSG1 Family Services

Family Services Placements & Client Costs. Full year effect cost of the current 
cohort with assumption of growth at the current rate. This is an increase 
£530,000 since October. Accounts for increases in placements and full year 
effects for 2020/21 on increases since P06 (in year increase P06 to P07 is 
£263,000). Allows for net new placements to date in 2019/20 and to March 
2021.

4,118 4,118 4,118 4,118

CHSG2
Special Education 

Needs and 
Disabilities

Short Breaks and Disabled Children Packages. Current expenditure in excess of 
budget for Children with Disability Packages, short breaks and direct payments. 
Assumes no further demand led growth.

513 513 513 513

CHSG3
Travel Care and 

Support      
Travel Care and Support. Demand pressure for September 2019 cohort. 
Includes 9% assumed current rate of growth for 2020/21.

886 886 886 886

5,517 5,517 5,517 5,517Total

Change and Savings Proposals Budget Change

Children's Services - Total Change and Savings Proposals

Demographic & Growth Requests Budget Change

1 of 1

P
age 48



Appendix 2

Children's Services Risk/Challenges

Department & Division Short Description of Risk

2020/21 

Value 

(£000's)

2021/22  

Value 

(£000's)

2022/23 

Value 

(£000's)

2023/24 

Value 

(£000's)

Mitigation

Children's Services

Travel Care and Support
Expected pressure, based 2019/20 overspend and 9% growth in numbers, exceeds 

awarded budget growth of £886,000.
             483              483              483              483 

Options put forward to deliver £129,000 savings. 

Further options will need to be found to mitigate 

pressure. Further growth from September 2020 is not 

included in these figures and will need to be modelled 

during 2020/21.

Staffing

Current vacancy factor across Children's services which includes Commissioning budget 

shortfall of £264,000 (19% of budget), SEND £236,000 (4.2% of budget), Family 

Services £137,000 (1% of budget) and Education £40,000 (2.7% of budget).

             677              677              677              677 Staffing review to be undertaken.

SEND time limited staff growth
Post Moving On SEND Service Enhancement - Short Term Growth agreed for 3 years in 

2018/19 MTFS. No current service approach to mitigate.
                -                290              290              290 

Family Assessments Spot purchase and contracted Family Assessments              153              153              153              153 
 Commissioning led review underway to reduce unit 

cost of assessments. 

Commisioned Children and Young 

Peoples Services
Early years, early help, children's centres and youth provision.           1,500           1,500           1,500           1,500  Mitigations being developed 

Commercialisation of the Haven Likely overspend on the Haven due to loss of income              250                 -                   -                   -   

Legal Costs Based on 2019-20 forecast              350              350              350              350 

Children's Services Total 3,413 3,453 3,453 3,453 

Risk

P
age 49



  APPENDIX 3 

1 
 

DRAFT Equality Impact Analysis (EIA) of main budget proposals for  

Children’s Services 

CHS 1 – Alternative model for care leaver housing - £200,000 

 

1. The Care Leaver accommodation programme proposes a new, cross 

departmental approach to increasing the supply of local supported 

accommodation for young people leaving care.  

 

2. The key objectives of the programme are to reduce the overspend within 

Children’s Services, where placements for young people through framework or 

spot purchasing are significantly higher than locally commissioned provision, 

whilst simultaneously improving outcomes for young people through quality 

housing and closer links to family and community support networks.   

 

3. It is believed that this proposal has a neutral impact on those with protected 

characteristics. The programme aims to increase supply of local quality housing 

provision for vulnerable young people. One element of the programme will be to 

identify young people currently placed in higher cost out of borough placements 

that are suitable and ready to be transferred to in-borough accommodation where 

accommodation-based support will continue to be provided. 

 

4. It is not anticipated therefore, that there will be any direct negative equality 

implications for protected groups at this stage.  

 

5. The savings proposals offer a form of service continuity where support will 

continue to be provided to vulnerable children.  

 

CHS 2 – Travel Care & Support - £129,000 

 

6. The Travel Care and Support Team saving encompasses several initiatives that 

largely form part of the business as usual processes and are permitted within the 

existing policy arrangements.  

 

 Independent Travel Training promotes members' manifesto pledge of improving 

children’s chances in life by promoting independence, creates opportunities as 

Page 50



  APPENDIX 3 

2 
 

young people prepare for adulthood by allowing access to work and reduces risks 

of loneliness by improving access to the community.  

 

 Opportunities for the use of shared transport arrangements between boroughs to 

promote social benefits of shared transport as well as shared efficiencies.  

 

 A review of vehicle types for students, consider moving into either a single 

occupancy or shared occupancy taxi to reduce the cost of their transport (as paid 

by mileage as opposed to seat) as well as added benefits around reduced travel 

times.  

 

 A personal travel budget offer provides parents with the flexibility to tailor their 

own solution to meet their child’s needs and promotes the H&F vision of doing 

things with residents rather than to them. 

 

7. It is believed that the proposals have either a neutral or a positive impact on 

those with protected characteristics. 

 

8. The proposal forms part of the business as usual actions for the service and are 

allowable within the existing Home to School transport policy. The proposals are 

applicable across the cohort and service users will be assessed on a risk and 

need basis to ensure individuals are not disadvantaged. 

 

CHS 3 – Staffing Efficiencies - £250,000 

 

9. This saving is to be met against a budget of c£22.5m and will be delivered as 

staffing efficiency across the department with no service impact expected. 

 

CHS 4 – Disabled Children Care packages, direct payments and residential 

placements - £257,000 

 

10. Improvements in management and frontline delivery of short breaks will reduce 

expenditure whilst protecting direct services to disabled children. Proposals will 

have a neutral impact on those with protected characteristics, while the services 

in question are delivered for disabled children who clearly have protected 

characteristics, none of the actions will deliver reduction in services to either the 

group as a whole or to any individual child.   

 

11. An increased focus on early intervention and eligibility for services will ensure 

services are targeted to prevent escalation of need. Developments will deliver 

improved services which will ensure that support remains available for disabled 

children and their families as required, further improved use of local services and 

Page 51



  APPENDIX 3 

3 
 

development of new services such as the behaviour outreach service will see 

improved outcomes.   

 

12. All policies and service changes relating to short breaks are co-produced with 

parents of disabled children to ensure the group are confident that the policies 

meet need and are fair and equitable. 

 

 

Children’s Services Investment Proposals 

 

CHSG 1 – Family Services placements & Client costs - £4.118m 

 

13. Growth request to align budget with the demand led growth in numbers that have 

caused a cost pressure on the Looked After Children and Care Leavers budgets.  

 

14. The proposal will have a neutral impact as it results in no change in service 

offered. 

 

 

CHSG 2 – Short Breaks and Disabled Children Packages - £513,000 

 

15. Growth request to align budget with the demand led growth in numbers that have 

caused a cost pressure on the Disabled Children’s residential, spot purchased 

care packages and direct payments budgets.  

 

16. The proposal will have a neutral impact as it results in no change in service 

offered.  

 

CHSG3 – Travel Care & Support - £886,000 

 

17. Growth request to partially mitigate pressure caused by the demand led growth in 

numbers that have caused a cost pressure on the Travel Care and Support.  

 

18. The proposal will have a neutral impact as it results in no change in service 

offered.  

 

Page 52


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 Youth Take Over Challenge 2019 ‘With Me 4 Me’ Report
	5 Integrated 2.5-Year-Old Health and Development Checks
	6 2020 Medium Term Financial Strategy
	Appendix 1 - Savings and investment proposals
	Appendix 2 - Risks
	Appendix 3 – Draft Equality Impact Assessment


